
TONGANOXIE PLANNING COMMISSION 
Agenda

November 7, 2019
7:00 p.m.

City Council Chambers
321 S. Delaware St.

*Note – This meeting may be transmitted via Facebook Live on the City of Tonganoxie page

CALL TO ORDER – Planning Commission Meeting

1. APPROVAL OF PC MINUTES – October 3, 2019

2. OPEN AGENDA – In order to speak during open agenda, you must sign in before the 
meeting. Please give your name and address to the City Clerk or designee. Comments 
will be limited to 3 minutes. Please wait to be recognized by the Chair and before 
speaking state your name and address for the record. 

3. NEW BUSINESS
a) Final Plat – 304 Shawnee Street – Submitted by Schoolyard Townhomes, LLC.
b) Development/Site Plan – 304 Shawnee Street – Submitted by Schoolyard 

Townhomes, LLC
c) CONTINUED TO 12/5/19 - Special Use Permit – 704 E 4th Street – Submitted by 

Desiree Kenney & Tots to Teens Childcare LLC

4. OLD BUSINESS
a) Final Plat – Saunders Estates on Smiley Road – Submitted by Jack Willis

5. GENERAL INFORMATION

6. ADJOURN



 

Minutes - Page 1 of 3 

 

 
 
 

Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
October 3, 2019 

7:00 p.m. Regular Meeting 
 

CALL TO ORDER 

• Chairman Morgan opened the meeting at 7:00 p.m. 
• Roll Call: Planning Commissioners present were Chairman John Morgan, Vice Chairman Monica 

Gee, Patti Bitler, Kevin Harris, Jake Dale and Crystal Harris. Zach Stoltenberg was absent. City 
Manager George Brajkovic, Planning Clerk Melanie Tweedy, City Planner Chris Brewster, City 
Attorney Anna Krstulic, and Assistant City Manager Dan Porter were also present. 
 

1. APPROVAL OF PC MINUTES – September 5, 2019 
o Mr. Dale motioned to approve the Planning Commission meeting minutes from August 1, 2019, 

noting that there were incomplete comments, but that did not affect the overall approval of 
minutes. 

o Ms. Gee seconded.  
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 
 

 
2. OPEN AGENDA – In order to speak during open agenda, you must sign in before the 

meeting. Please give your name and address to the City Clerk or designee. Comments will 
be limited to 3 minutes. Please wait to be recognized by the Chair and before 
speaking state your name and address for the record.  

• No members of the public wished to speak. 
 

3. NEW BUSINESS  
• No New Business  

 
4. OLD BUSINESS 

 
A) Public Hearing – Preliminary Plat – Schoolyard Townhomes – Submitted by Schoolyard 

Townhomes, LLC  
• Chris Brewster, City Planner, presented the staff report and revised preliminary plat. He 

explained that approval of the preliminary plat would allow the applicant to move forward 
with the final plat. He went on to explain that the planned district portion of the rezone and 
its requirements. He stated that they would recommend approval of the preliminary plat.  

• Chairman Morgan noted that plan document changes were received in the most recent 
packet but the staff report remained unchanged.  

• Mr. Brewster affirmed that the preliminary plat issues referenced in the most recent staff 
report remained  



 

Minutes - Page 2 of 3 

 

• Mr. Jason Swords, with Sunflower Development Group, addressed the Planning 
Commission and noted the design team had made several adjustments to the plans based 
on the feedback from a neighborhood meeting held next week.  

• Chairman Morgan opened the public hearing portion of the agenda.  
• No members of the public spoke in favor of the application.  
• No members of the public spoke in opposition to the application.  
• Chairman Morgan closed the public hearing.  
• Chairman Morgan asked about the changes made to parking at the project.  
• Mr. Sword shared that the revised plans included consolidation of parking into the center 

of the site.  
• Chairman Morgan asked about the trash receptacle plans for the site.  
• Mr. Swords noted that the central dumpster would service the entire site and that staff at 

the facility would monitor the site to prevent dumping or misuse of the receptacle.  
• Chairman Morgan commented that the easement from the street to the building would be 

20 feet in total.  
• Mr. Dale commented that the discussion was focused on moving two story units to the 

center of the property and away from the street edge and for the total number of bedrooms 
for the development. 

• Mr. Swords responded that the issue of the two story units would be addressed with the 
final plat and site plan. He also stated that the total number of bedrooms for the 
development would be approximately 54. 

• Ms. Gee shared that she attended the recent neighborhood meeting and received answers to 
her questions and was impressed with the work of the developers. She also explained that 
she had spoken with other communities who have worked with these developers and they 
only had good things to say.   

• Mr. Swords mentioned that 6 people were currently on the wait list for the property.  
• There were no additional comments from the commissioners.  

 
o Ms. Gee made a motion to approve to the preliminary plan with the conditions presented by 

staff.   
o Ms. Bitler seconded.  
o Vote of 5 ayes, 1 nay, motion carried. 
 
B) Public Hearing – Variance – 834 E 4th Street – Submitted by Kelly Angell and Steve Trieb 
• Mr. Brajkovic commented that the applicant had noticed for a public hearing but that they didn’t 

meet the requirements for the site plan at this time. He explained that we are working with the 
applicant to ensure that they meet the requirements for consideration.  

o Ms. Gee made a motion to continue the item to the next Planning Commission meeting on 
November 7th, 2019 at 7pm in City Council Chamber.   

o Mr. Harris seconded.  
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 
 

 



 

Minutes - Page 3 of 3 

 

 
5. GENERAL INFORMATION 

• Mr. Brajkovic shared that Leavenworth County is completing a Comprehensive Plan 
Update and that ongoing discussions include findings that the southern portion of the 
County is growing more quickly.  

• Mr. Morgan wondered if it would be appropriate to update and improve the 2020 
Comprehensive Vision Plan.  

• Mr. Brajkovic stated that staff is reviewing the plan as it is to ensure that the plan is 
appropriate going forward, but commented that a complete overhaul of the document 
would need to be a 2021 budget initiative for the City Council to consider.  

• Ms. Gee asked if there was any progress being made on cleaning and improving the 
businesses and storefronts on 4th Street. 

• Mr. Brajkovic responded that we would have to research and discuss as staff how to go 
about making the downtown design standards and guidelines into requirements.  

• Mr. Brewster explained that the Historic Downtown Business District Design 
Standards are not written in a way that it could be enforced as conditions and 
requirements. He did explain that we have utilized these standards to help with newer 
downtown businesses.  

• Mr. Brajkovic stated that we will explore options and will discuss at the next meeting.  
 

6.  ADJOURN 
o Ms. Gee made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  
o Mr. Dale seconded the motion.  
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 
o Meeting adjourned at 7:37 p.m. 

 
 

Respectfully submitted,  
 
 
Melanie Tweedy, Planning Clerk  

 



1 
 

 
 

City of Tonganoxie, Kansas 
 

PLANNING STAFF REPORT
 
Case#:  2019-007P 
 
Date of Report:  November 1, 2019 
 
Application: Final Plat & Final Development Plan  R-MF-2P Zoning 
 
Action: A final plat requires review and approval by the Planning Commission.  If 

the plat meets the standards of the subdivision regulations, the Planning 
Commission shall approve the final plat.  If there are any dedications of 
land for public purposes, they require acceptance by the City Council. 

 
 A final development plan requires a review by the Planning Commission 

with a recommendation to the City Council.  If the final development 
plan is in substantial compliance with the Preliminary Development Plan, 
meets any conditions placed on approval of an Outline Development 
Plan or Preliminary Development plan, and meets all other applicable 
standards, it should be recommended for approval. 

 
Applicant Name:  Schoolyard Townhomes LLC 
 
Property Owner Name:  Tongie5 LLC, Kay Soetaert or Ben Robbins 
 
Subject Property Address:  210 E. Second Street 
 
Property Size:   2.4 acres (106,600 s.f.) 
 
Zoning:   R-MF-2P (conditioned on final development plan) 
 
Legal Description:   (varied  multiple lots between Church and Shawnee, and between 

Second Street and Third Street extended) 

Date of Application:  10/25/2019   
Date of Public Hearing:  11/7/2019 
 
  



2 
 

I. SUMMARY:
 
This application is a Final Plat and Final Development Plan for 32 townhomes in 6 blocks of buildings at 
Second Street, between Church and Shawnee Streets.  The project is part of the school redevelopment 
that includes the Library fronting on Fourth Street. 
 
The planning commission reviewed a proposal in September to rezone approximately 2.45 acres from 

-SF Single-family RMF-2-P Multiple-
for deviations from the development standards based on a specific plan.  The Planning Commission 
recommended approval of the rezoning to the City Council, with specific conditions to be addressed in 
the Final Development Plan.   The Planning Commission took no action on a preliminary plat for the 
same project at the September meeting, but approved a preliminary plat at the October meeting.  The 
City Council approved the rezoning from R-SF to R-MF-2P at its October 14th meeting, subject to the 
conditions recommended by Planning Commission.   
 
II. ANALYSIS  
 
A. Final Development Plan 
 
1. Zoning.  The rezoning to the  accommodated requests for  specific deviations from 

the R-MF-2 development standards based on the preliminary development plan which included:  
a. a reduction in the front setbacks along Church, Second Street, and Shawnee Street;  
b. a reduction in the side setbacks for buildings with sides along Church Street and Shawnee 

Street; 
c. a reduction in the parking; and  
d. the allowance of attached buildings with more than 4 dwelling units and per-unit lot and 

 
 
2. Preliminary Development Plan.  The preliminary development plan also placed the following 

additional limits on the project:   
a. the density would be limited to 32 units;  
b. the buildings would be limited to 1.5 and 2-story buildings;  
c. the arrangement of open spaces and pedestrian circulation would be as specified on the plan; 

and  
d. the following specific items were recommended by staff as 

development plan and final development plan: 
o A final landscape plan be submitted and approved by planning staff in association with the 

final development plan.  The plan shall  
 identifying  species and planting specifications; 
  consideration of street trees between the sidewalk and street in conjunction with the 

street improvements. 
 Specifically trees spaced along Shawnee between curb and sidewalk if possible and 

some added to the north end; and on second street some trees added to the landscape 
areas that bulb out within the on-street parking. 

 Other landscape treatments to soften facades along the side elevations closest to 
Church and Shawnee shall be considered. 

o Further detail on planting, landscape or structural hardscape components should be 
explored to add definition and human scale to the entry court and entry features of each 
unit along the streetscape. 



3 
 

o Site plans in substantial conformance with the preliminary development plan, elevations, 
materials, and above conditions be reviewed and approved by Planning Commission prior to 
building permits. 

 
3. Planning Commission Review & Recommendation.  The Planning Commission also conditioned the 

recommendation for approval on specific issues to be addressed in this Final Development Plan: 
a. Revisit the design of on-street parking on Second Street, and locate as much parking as possible 

internal to the site; 
b. Review side setbacks requested along Church and Shawnee, and address by either relocating the 

buildings, limit blank walls on the close side elevations, increase landscape to soften these 
areas, or a combination of all of these elements. 

 
4. Final Development Plan.  The final development plan is in substantial conformance with the 

preliminary development plan and addresses the above criteria and conditions in the following 
manner: 

 

a. Parking.  All of the existing head in parking on Second Street is proposed to be removed in place 
of a continuous curb line and landscape area.  The on-site parking has been increased from 36 in 
the preliminary plan to 50 in the final development plan.  The ordinance requires 48, so this plan 
complies with the R-MF-2 zoning district standards, and the project no longer needs to take 
advantage of deviations offered by the planned zoning designation.  Additionally, although the 
on-street parking is no longer present, spaces for approximately 20 to 25 spaces exist on the 
streets for visitor or similar accessory parking, as is the case in all neighborhoods.  Planning staff 
considers on-street parking a benefit to walkable neighborhood streetscapes since it calms 
traffic, buffers pedestrians from moving vehicles, and eliminates unnecessary or repetitive 
driveways of surface parking areas.  All of these benefits are applicable in this context.  The final 
plan meets the ordinance requirement for parking and the Planning Commission 
recommendations for approval. 

 

b. Side Setbacks.  The side setbacks remain as proposed in the preliminary development plan.  
They are: 

  1.7 feet (Building C-1 on Church Street) 
 6.7 feet (Building A-1 on Church Street) 
 5.1 feet (Building B-1 on Shawnee Street) 
 5.1 feet (Building B-2 on Shawnee Street) 

This is consistent with the preliminary plan and presents an exception to the R-MF-2 required 

has elected to address the staff recommendation and Planning Commission concerns with the 
preliminary development plan by: (1) adding windows and doors, and material changes to all 
side elevations to break down the scale of the walls; (2) using 1-story elevations on some sides  
particularly those closest to the side lot line; and (3) increasing the landscape elements  

creating a more pedestrian scale to the streetscape and when viewed from the opposite block 
face. 
 

c. Entry Features.  Most of the entrances are side-oriented, and do not directly front the street.  
However, each unit has and change in material and color associated with the paired or mirrored 
entries.  The entrances will be visible alternating down the streetscape, depending on the angle.  
Additionally, the corner units also have direct entries /entry areas.  All of the entry areas are  
lined with low hedges, which combined with the shade tree canopy should provide a sufficient 
social space  that helps activate the streetscape with a more pedestrian-oriented atmosphere. 

 



4 
 

d. Landscape Plan.  The landscape plan does a good job of providing accent to the buildings and 
frontages, softening some portions of elevations where larger wall expanses exist or utility 
areas, and improving the public realm and relationship of the site to the streetscape.  Staff may 
still have some species and location recommendations to ensure longevity of plants and to be 
coordinated with final construction plans  particularly as it relates to street trees.   Ideally, as 
many of the trees as possible should be located in the tree lawn between the sidewalk and curb.  
Where that is not possible due to limited space or other infrastructure considerations, the 
frontage locations are an acceptable alternate. 

 

e. Building Elevations.  The elevations are consistent with the previous elevations but include more 
details on materials.  Additionally, the two-story elements are mid-block on Second Street, and 
the end units nearest the Library on Church and Shawnee Streets.  The materials are a limestone 
veneer, with cementitious lap siding (alternating green and blue pale hues), with dark grey trim, 
white or light grey shingles differentiate the massing of upper stories and gables, and use 
standing seam metal roofs. 

 

B. Final Plat 
 

The final plat is in substantial conformance with the approved preliminary plat, and meet all lot 
requirements of the R-MF-2 zoning and the preliminary development plan.  Since this project is a single-
lot plat with multi-unit buildings, the planning issues with the plat are routine and merely document the 
lot as a legal ownership within the bounds of the current rights-of-way on surrounding streets.  The 
engineering and utility issues are the more important platting considerations, and are documented in 
the City Engineer s review and comments and included in the Planning Commission packet.  
 

III. EFFECT OF DECISION 
 

The Planning Commission makes a recommendation to the City Council on the Final Development Plan, 
since it is associated with the planned rezoning of the property.  Approval of a Final Development Plan 
authorizes the applicant to prepare building plans and construction documents, and apply for permits 
demonstrating that they meet all applicable City standards and any conditions of the final development 
plan. 
 

The Planning Commission approves final plats, however any dedication of land for public use must be 
accepted by the City Council (none in this case since all rights-of-way are established and all other 
utilities are in private easements).  Upon approval by the Planning Commission (and acceptance of any 
public dedications), the applicant may record the plat with the County. 
 

IV. STAFF RECOMMENDATION
 

Staff recommends approval of the Final Development Plan subject to:
1.   The stormwater calculations and quantifications requested by the City Engineer be provided and all 

issues resolved prior to or in conjunction with construction permits. 
2.    The landscape plan is approved in concept with some final staff recommendations to be made on 

specific locations or species of plants  particularly the street trees  in coordination with 
construction plans. 

 

Staff recommends approval of the Final Plat subject to the City Engineer comments submitted with the 
Planning Commission packet. 
 
 

____________________________ 
Chris Brewster 
Contract City Planner 



5 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Current City Zoning (property in red box now zoned R=SF) 
 
 

 

 
Property  

 



6 
 

 
Future Land Use (Tonganoxie Comprehensive Plan 2006) 



To: 

Cc: 

From:

Date:

Re:

Final Development Plan: 

 

Recommendation:



Final Plat: 

 

Recommendation:

Sanitary Sewer Construction Plans:

 

Recommendation:

Public Street and Water Main Construction Plans: 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Recommendation:

Stormwater Drainage Study: 

 



Recommendation:

Brian Kingsley, PE 



















































S
U

R
V

E
Y

O
R

 / 
E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

:

N
O

R
T

H

P
R

O
JE

C
T

L
O

C
A

T
IO

N

S
U

R
V

E
Y

O
R

'S
 R

E
P

O
R

T

B
O

U
N

D
A

R
Y

 D
E

S
C

R
IP

T
IO

N

O
W

N
E

R
 / 

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
E

R
:

S
Y

M
B

O
L

 L
E

G
E

N
D

O
W

N
E

R
'S

 C
E

R
T

IF
IC

A
T

E
:

S
E

P
T

E
M

B
E

R
 4

, 2
01

9

D
E

D
IC

A
T

IO
N





10
/2
5/
20

19



N
O
R
T
H

P
R
O
JE
C
T

L
O
C
A
T
IO
N

DE
SI

G
N

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R:

I C
ER

TI
FY

 T
HA

T 
TH

IS
 P

RO
JE

CT
 H

AS
 B

EE
N

 D
ES

IG
N

ED
, A

N
D 

TH
ES

E
PL

AN
S 

PR
EP

AR
ED

, T
O

 M
EE

T 
O

R 
EX

CE
ED

 T
H

E 
DE

SI
G

N
 C

RI
TE

RI
A 

O
F

TO
N

G
AN

O
XI

E,
 K

AN
SA

S 
IN

 C
U

RR
EN

T 
U

SA
G

E 
EX

CE
PT

 A
S 

IN
DI

CA
TE

D
BE

LO
W

:
EX

CE
PT

IO
N

S:
N

O
N

E
.

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

_
DA

VI
D 

ST
U

AR
T 

LO
TZ

, P
E

SE
N

IO
R 

CI
VI

L 
EN

G
IN

EE
R

RE
CO

M
M

EN
DE

D 
FO

R 
AP

PR
O

VA
L:

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

_
BR

IA
N

 P
. K

IN
G

SL
EY

, P
E

CI
TY

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

_
KE

N
T 

H
ES

KE
TT

CI
TY

 S
U

PE
RI

N
TE

N
DE

N
T

AP
PR

O
VE

D
 F

O
R 

CO
N

ST
RU

CT
IO

N
:

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

_
G

EO
RG

E 
BR

AJ
KO

VI
C

CI
TY

 M
AN

AG
ER

AD
D

EN
DU

M
S:

BY
:

DA
TE

:

CC
EI

 P
RO

J. 
#1

90
6-

19
O

ct
ob

er
 2

5,
 2

01
9

SH
EE

T 
1 

of
 7

SI
TE

 L
O

CA
TI

O
N

 M
AP

10
/2
5/
20

19



SU
RV

EY
 C

O
N

TR
O

L 
PO

IN
TS

2 
o

f 7

P
R

O
JE

C
T

 N
O

:

D
A

T
E

:

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
1

0
1

1
1

2
1

3
1

4
1

5

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
1

0
1

1
1

2
1

3
1

4
1

5

ABCDEFGHJKL

S
2
.0

G
E

N
E

R
A

L
 L

A
Y

O
U

T
/

S
U

R
V

E
Y

 C
O

N
T

R
O

L

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
:

1
90

6
-1

9

O
ct

ob
e

r 
2

5,
 2

01
9

D
S

L

N
o

.
Is

su
ed

 D
a

te
N

o
te

s/
C

om
m

e
n

ts

( 
IN

 F
EE

T 
)

G
RA

PH
IC

 S
C

A
LE

0
20

20
40

.
.

.

LI
N

E
 N

3-
3B

M
H

 N
3-

4
M

H
 N

3-
3

M
H

 N
3-

2
E

X
. M

H
 N

3-
1

M
H

 N
3-

5

M
H

 N
3-

2A

M
H

 N
3-

3B

LI
N

E
 N

3-
3C

LINE N3-3A

LI
N

E
 N

3-
3

LI
N

E
 N

3-
2

E
X

 L
IN

E
 N

3-
1

LI
N

E
 N

3-
4

LINE N3-5

LINE N3-2A

CHURCH STREET

SHAWNEE STREET

T
H

IR
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

T
H

IR
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

S
E

C
O

N
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

T
B

M
 #

3

T
B

M
 #

1

T
B

M
 #

2

T
B

M
 #

4

CHURCH STREET

SHAWNEE STREET

S
E

C
O

N
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 A
1

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 B
1

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 C
1

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 B
2

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 D
1

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 A
2

U
N

IT
 A

U
N

IT
 A

U
N

IT
 B

U
N

IT
 C

U
N

IT
 D

U
N

IT
 E

U
N

IT
 F

U
N

IT
 A

U
N

IT
 B

U
N

IT
 C

U
N

IT
 D

U
N

IT
 E

U
N

IT
 F

U
N

IT
 E

U
N

IT
 D

U
N

IT
 C

U
N

IT
 B

U
N

IT
 A

U
N

IT
 E

U
N

IT
 D

U
N

IT
 C

U
N

IT
 B

U
N

IT
 A

U
N

IT
 B

U
N

IT
 C

U
N

IT
 D

U
N

IT
 E

U
N

IT
 E

U
N

IT
 D

U
N

IT
 C

U
N

IT
 B

U
N

IT
 A

O
F

F
IC

EM
H

 N
3-

3A
M

H
 N

3-
3C

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

20
' U

/E

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

20
' U

/E

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

15
' U

/E

PROPOSED
20' U/E

PROPOSED
20' U/E

PROPOSED
35' U/E

PROPOSED
35' U/E

10
/2
5/
20

19



3 
o

f 7

P
R

O
JE

C
T

 N
O

:

D
A

T
E

:

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
1

0
1

1
1

2
1

3
1

4
1

5

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
1

0
1

1
1

2
1

3
1

4
1

5

ABCDEFGHJKL

S
3
.0

P
L

A
N

 A
N

D
 P

R
O

F
IL

E
S

H
E

E
T

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
:

1
90

6
-1

9

O
ct

ob
e

r 
2

5,
 2

01
9

D
S

L

N
o

.
Is

su
ed

 D
a

te
N

o
te

s/
C

om
m

e
n

ts

( 
IN

 F
EE

T 
)

G
RA

PH
IC

 S
C

A
LE

0
50

50
10

0

.
.

.

LI
N

E
 N

3-
3B

M
H

 N
3-

2
E

X
. M

H
 N

3-
1

LI
N

E
 N

3-
3C

LINE N3-3A

LI
N

E
 N

3-
2

E
X

 L
IN

E
 N

3-
1

LI
N

E
 N

3-
4

LINE N3-5

LINE N3-2A

CHURCH STREET

SHAWNEE STREET

10 0

S
E

C
O

N
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

M
H

 N
3-

3

LI
N

E
 N

3-
3

T
H

IR
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

T
H

IR
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

S
E

C
O

N
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

M
H

 N
3-

2A
M

H
 N

3-
5

M
H

 N
3-

3B
M

H
 N

3-
3A

M
H

 N
3-

3C

( 
IN

 F
EE

T 
)

G
RA

PH
IC

 S
C

A
LE

0
50

50
10

0

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 A
1

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 B
1

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 C
1

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 B
2

BUILDING D1

BUILDING A2

"A
"

"B
"

"C
"

"D
"

"E
"

"F
"

"A
"

"B
"

"C
"

"D
"

"E
"

"F
"

"E
"

"D
"

"C
"

"B
"

"A
"

"E
"

"D
"

"C
"

"B
"

"A
"

"A
"

"C
"

"D
"

"E
"

"B
"

"C
"

"B
"

"A
"

"D
"

"E
"

O
F

F
IC

E

M
H

 N
3-

4

S
E

W
E

R
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
 L

IN
E

 IN
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N

10
/2
5/
20

19



4 
o

f  
7

P
R

O
JE

C
T

 N
O

:

D
A

T
E

:

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
1

0
1

1
1

2
1

3
1

4
1

5

1
1

4
1

5

ABCDEFGHJKL

S
4
.0

P
L

A
N

 A
N

D
 P

R
O

F
IL

E
S

H
E

E
T

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
:

1
90

6
-1

9

O
ct

ob
e

r 
2

5,
 2

01
9

D
S

L

N
o

.
Is

su
ed

 D
a

te
N

o
te

s/
C

om
m

e
n

ts

( 
IN

 F
EE

T 
)

G
RA

PH
IC

 S
C

A
LE

0
50

50
10

0

.
.

.

10 0
( 

IN
 F

EE
T 

)

G
RA

PH
IC

 S
C

A
LE

0
50

50
10

0

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
1

0
1

1
1

2
1

3

LI
N

E
 N

3-
3B

M
H

 N
3-

2
E

X
. M

H
 N

3-
1

LI
N

E
 N

3-
3C

LINE N3-3A

LI
N

E
 N

3-
2

E
X

 L
IN

E
 N

3-
1

LI
N

E
 N

3-
4

LINE N3-5

LINE N3-2A

CHURCH STREET

SHAWNEE STREET

S
E

C
O

N
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

M
H

 N
3-

3

LI
N

E
 N

3-
3

T
H

IR
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

T
H

IR
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

S
E

C
O

N
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

M
H

 N
3-

2A
M

H
 N

3-
5

M
H

 N
3-

3B
M

H
 N

3-
3A

M
H

 N
3-

3C

BUILDING D1

"A
"

"B
"

"C
"

"D
"

"E
"

"F
"

"A
"

"B
"

"C
"

"D
"

"E
"

"F
"

"E
"

"D
"

"C
"

"B
"

"A
"

"E
"

"D
"

"C
"

"B
"

"A
"

"A
"

"C
"

"D
"

"E
"

"B
"

"C
"

"B
"

"A
"

"D
"

"E
"

O
F

F
IC

E

M
H

 N
3-

4

S
E

W
E

R
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
 L

IN
E

 IN
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 A
1

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 B
1

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 C
1

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 B
2

BUILDING A2

10
/2
5/
20

19



EX
IS

TI
N

G 
4'

 D
IA

.
PR

EC
AS

T 
M

AN
HO

LE

M
H 

ST
RU

CT
U

RE
 N

3-
1

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 4

' D
IA

.
PR

EC
AS

T 
M

AN
HO

LE

 M
H

 S
TR

U
CT

U
RE

 N
3-

2

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 4

' D
IA

.
PR

EC
AS

T 
M

AN
HO

LE

M
H 

ST
RU

CT
U

RE
 N

3-
3

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 4

' D
IA

.
PR

EC
AS

T 
M

AN
HO

LE

M
H 

ST
RU

CT
U

RE
 N

3-
4

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 4

' D
IA

.
PR

EC
AS

T 
M

AN
HO

LE
 (S

H
AL

LO
W

)

M
H 

ST
RU

CT
U

RE
 N

3-
5

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 4

' D
IA

.
PR

EC
AS

T 
M

AN
HO

LE
 (S

H
AL

LO
W

)

M
H 

ST
RU

CT
U

RE
 N

3-
2A

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 4

' D
IA

.
 P

RE
CA

ST
 M

AN
HO

LE

M
H 

ST
RU

CT
U

RE
 N

3-
3A

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 4

' D
IA

.
PR

EC
AS

T 
M

AN
HO

LE
 (S

H
AL

LO
W

)

M
H 

ST
RU

CT
U

RE
 N

3-
3C

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 4

' D
IA

.
PR

EC
AS

T 
M

AN
HO

LE
 (S

H
AL

LO
W

)

M
H 

ST
RU

CT
U

RE
 N

3-
3B

5 
o

f 7

P
R

O
JE

C
T

 N
O

:

D
A

T
E

:

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
1

0
1

1
1

2
1

3
1

4
1

5

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
1

0
1

1
1

2
1

3
1

4
1

5

ABCDEFGHJKL

S
5
.0

M
A

N
H

O
LE

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

H
E

E
T

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
:

1
90

6
-1

9

O
ct

ob
e

r 
2

5,
 2

01
9

D
S

L

N
o

.
Is

su
ed

 D
a

te
N

o
te

s/
C

om
m

e
n

ts

.
.

.

10
/2
5/
20

19



 T
R

E
N

C
H

 D
E

T
A

IL
 

 U
N

D
E

R
 P

A
V

E
M

E
N

T
  

S
T

R
E

E
T

, D
R

IV
E

W
A

Y
 O

R
 S

ID
E

W
A

LK
  

  
E

C
C

E
N

T
R

IC
 C

O
N

E
  

 S
T

A
N

D
A

R
D

 P
R

E
C

A
S

T
 M

A
N

H
O

L
E

 
 S

H
A

LL
O

W
 P

R
E

C
A

S
T

 M
A

N
H

O
LE

 
  

C
O

N
C

E
N

T
R

IC
 C

O
N

E
 O

R
 F

LA
T

 T
O

P
  

  
E

C
C

E
N

T
R

IC
 C

O
N

E
  

 P
R

E
C

A
S

T
 I

N
S

ID
E

-D
R

O
P

 M
A

N
H

O
LE

 

 T
Y

P
E

 I
I S

E
A

L
 D

O
W

N
  

R
IN

G
 A

N
D

 L
ID

 
 T

Y
P

E
 I

 R
IN

G
 A

N
D

 L
ID

 

 O
U

T
S

ID
E

 O
F

 P
A

V
E

M
E

N
T

 

  S
E

R
V

IC
E

 L
IN

E
 A

N
D

 R
IS

E
R

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

   
 S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D
 IN

S
T

A
L

LA
T

IO
N

 

 E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 M
A

N
H

O
L

E
 

 C
O

N
N

E
C

T
IO

N
 D

E
T

A
IL

 

S
A

N
IT

A
R

Y
 C

L
E

A
N

O
U

T
 D

E
T

A
IL

S
 

 
  

 N
  

  
  

   
  

  
  

  
   

  
 

C
   

 E
  

  
  

r 
   

r 
 

  
K

  
 

  
  

, 
P

 E
  

  
G

 C
 

 
  

   
  

 ,
 I

  
  

D
  

 r
  

   
 

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

D
  

 
R

  
 

P
 

  
  

 W
 r

  
 D

 
  

r 
 

  
 

C
   

 S
  

 
d 

rd
 D

  
 

   

20
1

7 
E

di
tio

n

G
E

N
E

R
A

L
 N

O
T

E
S

 F
O

R
 S

A
N

IT
A

R
Y

 S
E

W
E

R
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

   
  

   
   

   
  

   
 

 T
R

E
N

C
H

 D
E

T
A

IL
 

R
  

  
 

d 
G

  
 

r 
  N

  
  

11
  

 d
  

dd
 d

 G
  

 r
  

 N
 

  
 1

2 
 1

/ 
1/

2 
1 

1

6 
   

   
   

   
7

S
H

E
E

T
 S

6.
0



S
 

 
  

 N
  

  
  

   
  

  
  

  
   

  
 

C
   

 E
  

  
  

r 
   

r 
 

  
K

  
 

  
  

, 
P

 E
  

  
G

 C
 

 
  

   
  

 ,
 I

  
  

D
  

 r
  

   
 

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

D
  

 
R

  
 

P
  

   
 W

 r
  

 D
  

 r
  

  
 

C
   

 S
  

 d
 r

d 
D

  
  

  

20
17

 E
di

tio
n

A A

P
IP

E
 S

E
A

L 
R

E
P

A
IR

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

M
A

N
H

O
LE

  
E

N
C

H
 IN

V
E

R
T

 R
E

H
A

 
IL

IT
A

T
IO

N
 D

E
T

A
IL

S

P
LA

N
S

E
C

T
IO

N
 A

-A

7 
   

   
   

   
7

S
H

E
E

T
 S

7.
0

























S
 

 
  

 N
  

  
  

   
  

  
  

  
   

  
 

S
T

R
E

E
T

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

C
   

 E
  

  
  

r 
   

r 
 

  
K

  
 

  
  

, 
P

 E
  

  
G

 C
 

 
  

   
  

 ,
 I

  
  

D
  

 r
  

   
 

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

D
  

 
R

  
 

P
  

   
 W

 r
  

 D
  

 r
  

  
 

C
   

 S
  

 d
 r

d 
D

  
  

  

20
17

 E
di

tio
n

 C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

 V
A

LL
E

Y
 G

U
T

T
E

R
 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 A
-A

AA

 S
T

A
N

D
A

R
D

 C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

 C
U

R
 

 A
N

D
 G

U
T

T
E

R
 

  

 C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

 E
N

T
R

A
N

C
E

  
S

E
C

T
IO

N
  

- 
 

P
LA

N
 V

IE
W

 R
E

S
ID

E
N

T
IA

L
 E

N
T

R
A

N
C

E
 P

LA
N

 V
IE

W
 

C
U

T
 S

E
C

T
IO

N
F

IL
L 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 T
Y

P
IC

A
L

 S
E

C
T

IO
N

 -
 S

T
R

E
E

T
 G

R
A

D
IN

G
 

 T
Y

P
IC

A
L

 S
E

C
T

IO
N

 -
 H

O
T

 M
IX

 A
S

P
H

A
LT

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 

 T
Y

P
IC

A
L

 S
E

C
T

IO
N

 -
 P

O
R

T
LA

N
D

 C
E

M
E

N
T

 C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 

 C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L 
E

N
T

R
A

N
C

E
 P

LA
N

 V
IE

W
 

 

G
E

N
E

R
A

L
 N

O
T

E
S

 F
O

R
 S

T
R

E
E

T
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

   
   

   
   

   
  

   
  

   
   

   
  

   
  

   
   

   
  

  

 



S
 

 
  

 N
  

  
  

   
  

  
  

  
   

  
 

S
ID

E
W

A
LK

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

C
   

 E
  

  
  

r 
   

r 
 

  
K

  
 

  
  

, 
P

 E
  

  
G

 C
 

 
  

   
  

 ,
 I

  
  

D
  

 r
  

   
 

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

D
  

 
R

  
 

P
  

   
 W

 r
  

 D
  

 r
  

  
 

C
   

 S
  

 d
 r

d 
D

  
  

  

20
17

 E
di

tio
n

G
E

N
E

R
A

L
 N

O
T

E
S

 F
O

R
 S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

 C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N
   

  

S
ID

E
W

A
L

K
 A

N
D

 S
ID

E
W

A
LK

 R
A

M
P

 E
L

E
M

E
N

T
S

  
   

  
   

  
   

 D
E

T
E

C
T

A
 

L
E

 W
A

R
N

IN
G

S
 

 M
O

N
O

LI
T

H
IC

 E
D

G
E

 C
U

R
 

 



A

 

 P
O

S
T

 H
Y

D
R

A
N

T
 D

E
T

A
IL

 

 F
IR

E
 H

Y
D

R
A

N
T

 D
E

T
A

IL
 

 V
A

L
V

E
 A

N
D

 V
A

LV
E

  
O

X
 D

E
T

A
IL

 

 S
T

R
A

D
D

LE
 O

R
 E

N
D

  
L

O
C

K
IN

G
 

 T
H

R
U

S
T

  
L

O
C

K
 D

E
T

A
IL

S
 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 A
-A

 T
Y

P
IC

A
L

 T
R

E
N

C
H

 S
E

C
T

IO
N

 
 A

IR
 R

E
L

E
A

S
E

 D
E

T
A

IL
 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

  
- 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 V
IE

W

 C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

 E
N

C
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

 O
F

 S
A

N
IT

A
R

Y
 S

E
W

E
R

 L
IN

E
 C

R
O

S
S

IN
G

 W
A

T
E

R
L

IN
E

 D
E

T
A

IL
 

P
LA

N
 V

IE
W

S
 

 
  

 N
  

  
  

   
  

  
  

  
   

  
 

W
A

T
E

R
LI

N
E

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

  
1

C
   

 E
  

  
  

r 
   

r 
 

  
K

  
 

  
  

, 
P

 E
  

  
G

 C
 

 
  

   
  

 ,
 I

  
  

D
  

 r
  

   
 

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

D
  

 
R

  
 

P
  

   
 W

 r
  

 D
  

 r
  

  
 

C
   

 S
  

 d
 r

d 
D

  
  

  

20
17

 E
di

tio
n

 

AA

E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N
 V

IE
W

E
LE

V
A

T
IO

N
 V

IE
W

G
E

N
E

R
A

L
 N

O
T

E
S

 F
O

R
 W

A
T

E
R

L
IN

E
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

   
  

A
dd

 
d

 G
  

 r
  

 N
 

  
  

  A
   

 
  

  
  

  
r 

  
 

   
  

  
 

 
  

 
   

   
 r

 
  

 
  

  
  

   
 

 1
/ 

1/
2 

1 
1



S
 

 
 

  
N

  
  

  
  

  
   

  
  

  
   

 

W
A

T
E

R
L

IN
E

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

  
2

C
   

 E
 

 
  

 
 r

  
  

r 
 

 
 K

  
 

  
  

, 
P

 E
  

  
G

 C
  

  
   

 
  

, 
I 

  
 

D
  

 r
  

   
 

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

D
  

 
R

  
 

P
  

   
 W

 r
  

 D
  

 r
  

  
 

C
   

 S
  

 d
 r

d 
D

  
  

  

20
17

 E
di

tio
n

 T
Y

P
IC

A
L

 1
" 

W
A

T
E

R
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
 

 T
Y

P
IC

A
L

  
/4

" 
W

A
T

E
R

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

 

















3' - 0"

2"1' - 0"

20
' -

 0
"













FF
=9

00
'-1

0"
FF

=9
00

'-1
0"

FF
=9

00
'-1

0"
FF

=9
00

'-1
0"

FF
=9

00
'-1

0"
FF

=9
01

'-0
"

FF
=8

99
'-0

"
FF

=9
01

'-0
"

FF
=8

99
'-0

"
FF

=8
97

'-0
"

FF
=8

97
'-0

"

FF
=8

98
'-0

"
FF

=8
98

'-0
"

FF
=9

00
'-0

"
FF

=9
00

'-0
"

FF
=9

00
'-0

"
FF

=9
00

'-0
"

FF
=9

00
'-0

"
FF

=9
00

'-0
"

FF
=9

00
'-0

"
FF

=8
98

'-0
"

FF
=8

98
'-0

"

FF
=8

97
'-0

"

FF
=8

97
'-0

"

FF
=8

97
'-0

"

FF
=8

95
'-0

"

FF
=8

95
'-0

"

FF
=8

99
'-0

"

FF
=8

99
'-0

"

FF
=8

99
'-0

"

FF
=9

01
'-0

"

FF
=9

01
'-0

"

FF
=8

99
'-3

"

TH
IR

D
 S

T.
TH

IR
D

 S
T.

SE
C

O
N

D
 S

T.

CHURCH ST.

SHAWNEE ST.

C
5.

0

Si
te

 L
ig

ht
in

g 
Pl

an

T
y

p
e

 -
 "

A
"

"A
"

IN
S

T
A

LL
 1

7"
x3

0"
 "

Q
U

A
Z

IT
E

" 
P

G
S

E
R

IE
S

 J
U

N
C

T
IO

N
 B

O
X

 W
IT

H
C

O
N

C
R

E
T

E
 C

O
LL

A
R

, S
E

E
D

E
T

A
IL

S
 T

Y
P

IC
A

L.

IN
S

T
A

LL
 2

" 
S

C
H

 4
0 

P
.V

.C
. C

O
N

D
U

IT
 &

3 
- 

#8
 X

H
H

W
, R

H
W

, 
R

H
W

-2
 F

O
R

LI
G

H
T

IN
G

 C
IR

C
U

IT
R

Y
, S

E
E

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

T
Y

P
IC

A
L.

IN
S

T
A

LL
 2

" 
S

C
H

 4
0 

P
.V

.C
. C

O
N

D
U

IT
 &

3 
- 

#8
 X

H
H

W
, R

H
W

, 
R

H
W

-2
 T

O
P

H
O

T
O

C
E

LL
 O

R
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 L

IG
H

T
IN

G
C

O
N

T
R

O
LS

, S
E

E
 D

E
T

A
IL

S
. F

IE
LD

V
E

R
IF

Y
 L

O
C

A
T

IO
N

S
.

"A
"

"A
"

IN
S

T
A

LL
 4

" 
S

C
H

 4
0 

P
.V

.C
.

C
O

N
D

U
IT

 S
LE

E
V

E
 F

O
R

LI
G

H
T

IN
G

 C
IR

C
U

IT
R

Y
U

N
D

E
R

 P
A

V
E

M
E

N
T

, S
E

E

"J
B

"

"J
B

"

"J
B

"

T
y

p
e

 -
 "

B
"

"B
"

"B
"

IN
S

T
A

LL
 1

" 
S

C
H

 4
0 

P
.V

.C
. C

O
N

D
U

IT
&

 3
 -

 #
10

 X
H

H
W

, R
H

W
, R

H
W

-2
 F

O
R

LI
G

H
T

IN
G

 C
IR

C
U

IT
R

Y
, S

E
E

D
E

T
A

IL
S

 T
Y

P
IC

A
L.

N
o

rt
h

 R
ig

ht
 o

f W
a

y
99

 p
oi

nt
s 

at
 z

=
0

, s
p 

10
ft

 b
y 

10
ft

H
O

R
IZ

O
N

T
A

L 
F

O
O

T
C

A
N

D
LE

S
A

ve
ra

ge
M

a
xi

m
u

m
M

in
im

u
m

A
vg

:M
in

M
a

x:
M

in
C

o
ef

 V
a

r
U

n
ifG

ra
d

0.
9

5.
5

0.
1

9.
2

0
55

.0
0

1.
3

1
11

.3
1

S
ou

th
 P

ar
ki

n
g

17
4

 p
oi

nt
s 

a
t z

=
0,

 s
p 

10
ft 

by
 1

0
ft

H
O

R
IZ

O
N

T
A

L 
F

O
O

T
C

A
N

D
LE

S
A

ve
ra

ge
M

a
xi

m
u

m
M

in
im

u
m

A
vg

:M
in

M
a

x:
M

in
C

o
ef

 V
a

r
U

n
ifG

ra
d

1.
8

5.
0

0.
2

8.
7

9
25

.0
0

0.
7

4
3.

5
0

W
al

kw
a

y 
12

8
 p

oi
nt

s 
a

t z
=

0,
 s

p 
5f

t b
y 

5f
t

H
O

R
IZ

O
N

T
A

L 
F

O
O

T
C

A
N

D
LE

S
A

ve
ra

ge
M

a
xi

m
u

m
M

in
im

u
m

A
vg

:M
in

M
a

x:
M

in
C

o
ef

 V
a

r
U

n
ifG

ra
d

2.
4

6.
5

0.
5

4.
8

5
13

.0
0

0.
6

0
5.

0
0

V
is

io
n

ai
re

 L
ig

ht
in

g 
L

LC
 V

B
L-

1
-T

2-
32

LC
-S

-3
-4

K
-U

N
V

V
is

io
n

ai
re

 L
ig

ht
in

g 
P

h
ot

om
et

ric
 L

a
bo

ra
to

ry
 te

st
 r

ep
or

t n
o

. S
04

0
21

8T
20

1
6

la
m

p(
s)

: 
 X

X
X

ca
nd

el
a

 fi
le

 'V
B

L-
1

_T
2_

32
LC

-S
_3

_
4K

.IE
S

'
1 

la
m

p(
s)

 p
er

 lu
m

in
ai

re
,  

ph
ot

om
et

ry
 is

 a
b

so
lu

te
Li

gh
t 

Lo
ss

 F
ac

to
r 

=
 1

.0
00

,  
w

at
ts

 p
er

 lu
m

in
a

ire
 =

 3
2

O
ut

re
ac

h 
(f

ro
m

 m
ou

nt
in

g
 a

xi
s 

to
 p

ho
to

m
e

tr
ic

 c
en

te
r)

= 
10

.7
5

 in
m

o
un

tin
g 

h
ei

gh
t=

  1
1.

5 
ft

nu
m

be
r 

lo
ca

tio
ns

=
 6

, 
 n

um
b

er
 lu

m
in

ai
re

s=
 6

kw
 a

ll 
lo

ca
tio

ns
=

 0
.2

V
is

io
n

ai
re

 L
ig

ht
in

g 
L

LC
 V

M
X

-1
-T

3-
96

LC
-5

-4
K

-U
N

V
_C

LS
-

V
is

io
n

ai
re

 L
ig

ht
in

g 
P

h
ot

om
et

ric
 L

a
bo

ra
to

ry
 te

st
 r

ep
or

t n
o

. S
10

3
01

7T
30

2
9

la
m

p(
s)

: 
 X

X
X

ca
nd

el
a

 fi
le

 'V
M

X
-1

_T
3_

96
LC

_
5_

4K
-U

N
V

_C
LS

.IE
S

'
1 

la
m

p(
s)

 p
er

 lu
m

in
ai

re
,  

ph
ot

om
et

ry
 is

 a
b

so
lu

te
Li

gh
t 

Lo
ss

 F
ac

to
r 

=
 1

.0
00

,  
w

at
ts

 p
er

 lu
m

in
a

ire
 =

 1
5

7
O

ut
re

ac
h 

(f
ro

m
 m

ou
nt

in
g

 a
xi

s 
to

 p
ho

to
m

e
tr

ic
 c

en
te

r)
= 

9 
in

m
o

un
tin

g 
h

ei
gh

t=
  2

5 
ft

nu
m

be
r 

lo
ca

tio
ns

=
 3

, 
 n

um
b

er
 lu

m
in

ai
re

s=
 3

kw
 a

ll 
lo

ca
tio

ns
=

 0
.5

IN
S

T
A

LL
 1

" 
S

C
H

 4
0 

P
.V

.C
. C

O
N

D
U

IT
&

 3
 -

 #
10

 X
H

H
W

, R
H

W
, R

H
W

-2
 F

O
R

LI
G

H
T

IN
G

 C
IR

C
U

IT
R

Y
, S

E
E

D
E

T
A

IL
S

 T
Y

P
IC

A
L.

D
at

e
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Se
al

 / 
Si

gn
at

ur
e

20
19

Is
su

e

N
O

T 
FO

R
C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N

PR
A

IR
IE

 F
IR

E
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

G
R

O
U

P
SC

H
O

O
LY

A
R

D
 L

O
FT

S
To

ng
an

ox
ie

, K
S

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
AT

TN
: B

R
IA

N
 L

AV
ER

Y,
 P

E
C

C
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
11

00
6 

PA
R

AL
LE

L 
PK

W
Y

KA
N

SA
S 

C
IT

Y,
 K

S 
66

10
9

90
3.

64
2.

66
42

bl
@

cc
en

gi
ne

er
s.

co
m

ST
R

U
C

TU
R

AL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
AT

TN
: P

AT
 S

IX
TA

, P
E

AP
EX

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

16
25

 L
O

C
U

ST
 S

TR
EE

T
KA

N
SA

S 
C

IT
Y,

 M
O

 6
41

08
81

6.
42

1.
32

22
pa

tri
ck

@
ap

ex
-e

ng
in

ee
rs

.c
om

AR
C

H
IT

EC
T

AT
TN

: A
SH

LE
Y 

SA
D

O
W

SK
I, 

AI
A

70
1 

E.
 6

3R
D

 S
TR

EE
T

KA
N

SA
S 

C
IT

Y,
 M

IS
SO

U
R

I 6
41

10
81

6.
70

8.
15

00
as

ad
ow

sk
i@

od
im

o.
us

FI
N

A
L 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
PL

A
N

25
 O

ct
ob

er
, 2

01
9

( 
IN

 F
EE

T 
)

G
RA

PH
IC

 S
C

A
LE

20
0

20
40

"B
"

"B
"

"B
"

"B
"



SITE  PLAN  REVIEW  APPLICATION
City of Tonganoxie, Kansa

Please complete all of the following information (type or print):

Project Name:  _______________________________________________________________

Project Address/Location:  ______________________________________________________

Description:  ____ New Construction    ____ Addition    ____ Exterior Remodel    ____ Tenant Finish

                     Other: __________________________________________________

Send Review Comments To:

Contact Person: ______________________________________________________________

Company Name:  ______________________________________________________________

Address: ___________________________________________________________________

City, State Zip: ______________________________________________________________

Phone Number: __________________________Fax Number: ________________________

Owner/Developer (If different from above):

Contact Person: ______________________________________________________________

Company:  __________________________________________________________________

Address: ___________________________________________________________________

City, State Zip: ______________________________________________________________

Phone Number: __________________________Fax Number: ________________________

 Site Plan--buildings, walls, fences, exterior equipment, refuse disposal
 Landscape plan w/schedule
Drainage calculations for City Engineer
 Elevations showing materials, colors, textures, etc.

Date Submitted:  ____________   Fee Paid:  ______   Received by _______________________

*It is the responsibility of the Applicant to read and comply with all of the regulations contained in the 
Site Review Ordinance.  Applicant should anticipate a minimum 2 week review period by City staff.
Any revisions required will require additional review time.



CITY OF TONGANOXIE
Site Review Checklist

Application and fee

 Projected review period and process--proposed meeting date(s) ______________________

Goals of the Site Review Board: (Section 1.1)
 Compatibility both on the site and in the neighborhood--building arrangement and appearance, 

parking, access, lighting, & landscaping
 Traffic --streets & sidewalks designed for safe movement of vehicles and pedestrians?
 Landscaping--does the site present a pleasant public appearance, is sufficient screening & buffering 

provided?  Location?
 Drainage--will the improvements to the site affect the amount of water leaving the site during and 

after a storm?  If so, how do you plan to mitigate this problem?

Preliminary Planning Meeting (Section 1.3.1)

 Site sketch
 Information concerning site and adjacent areas--contours, topography, floodplain, existing and proposed 

improvements, streets, driveways, drainage areas, fire hydrants

Submittal Materials (Sections 2.0, 3.0, 4.0)
 Completed application form and fee
 Engineered Stormwater Plan (Section1.4.5)
 Sufficient drawings to clearly depict all requirements of plan
 Projected timeline

Stormwater Plan - Contact Brian Kingsley at BG Consultants, (785) 749-4474 for city standards concerning 
stormwater calculations.

Drawings (may be separate or combined)
 Site Plan (Section 2.0)

 Site boundary dimensions/bearings
 Legal description
 On-site and adjacent streets, drives, entrances, sidewalks, medians, turning lanes, etc with widths and 

curb cuts.
 Existing and proposed structures/improvements and significant vegetation (dimension)
 Label all improvements
 Stormwater detention areas
 Exterior refuse and mechanical equipment locations
 Signs--size and location
 Loading and service areas

 Grading Plan showing finish grades/contours at 2 foot intervals (Section 2.1.3)

 Exterior lighting and sound--location, height and intensity of fixtures/lamps/speakers (Section 2.1.8-9)

 Landscaping Plan-location & schedule of landscaping materials (plants, structures, fences, walls, etc.) (4.0)
 Contributes to the aesthetic appearance of site
 Plan safeguards the natural environment
 Provides sufficient buffering and screening

 Elevations--materials, dimensions, design, windows, doors (Section 3.0)

Material samples (Section 3.4)

 CBD/Downtown Design Standards (Section 3.8)

NOTE: This is not a comprehensive list.  Please refer to the Site Review Regulations for a complete 
explanation of the above items.  Normally, bid drawings will contain all the needed information except 
for stormwater calculations



The Special Use Permit application submitted for 702 E 4th Street has been continued to a 
future date TBD in the Council Chambers, located at 321 S Delaware Street. 

 



To:

Cc:

From:

Date:

Re: 

Preliminary Plat: 

 

Access to the 4 lots on Smiley Road shall be subject to review and approval by the City 
Engineer, and generally be consolidated to two points. Options to explore include shared 
drives between two lots, access from the proposed side street to the south of the property, 
access from a shared “frontage lane” connecting all lots with a common access drive, or 
combinations of these or similar strategies.  
 
It appears that the proposed access shown on the plats includes 3 points of access to Smiley 
Road. 

 

 

 



Recommendation:

Final Plat: 

Recommendation:

Brian Kingsley, PE 



1 
 

 
 

City of Tonganoxie, Kansas 
 

PLANNING STAFF REPORT
 
Case#: 2019-008P  Reconsideration of Application for Preliminary Plat and Final Plat 
 
Date of Report: November 4, 2019 
 
Applicant Name: Jack Willis, South Park Development  
 
Property Owner Name: South Park Development Company, LLC  
 
Subject Property Address: 520 Smiley Road
 
Application:    

Zoning District:  R-R Rural District and R-SF Single Family District 
Type of Approval Desired:  Preliminary and Final Plat 
Date of Application: June, 2019 
Date of Meeting: August 1, 2019  

 
Surrounding Property  Zoning and Use:  

West:  RR-2.5 (unincorporated Leavenworth County), undeveloped wooded lot; and R-R, 
house on remnant parcel that was part of previous rezoning application 

South:   R-SF  3 single family lots (approximately .5 acres), 2 single-family lots 
(approximately 1-2 acres), and 1 remnant lot (approximately 15 acres) 

East:  R-R and R-SF  4 single-family lots (approximately 1 acre), 1 large remnant parcel, 
church 

North:  R-SF and R-R  17 single-family lots (approximately 7,000  12,000 square feet), 4 
remnant parcels (approximately 2 to 10 acres) 

 
 
  



2 
 

UPDATE:

This item is a reconsideration of a previous Planning Commission approval.  It is based on changes 
proposed by the applicant since the Planning Commission Action.  This cover page includes an outline of 
the issues before the Planning Commission on reconsideration.  The following pages are for background 
only, and include the original staff report associated with the August 2019 submittal.  Staff will be 
prepared to answer any specific questions at the November 7, 2019 meeting. 
 
Reconsideration of Application for Preliminary Plat and Final Plat  Saunders Estates  
 
August 1, 2019 Planning Commission Consideration  
 
The staff report recommended approval of the preliminary and final plat subject to the following 
conditions:  
 
1.  The final plat be revised prior to city signatures and recording to show restricted access on all lots  

limited to two access points on Smiley Road, and that all access points be approved by the City 
Engineer prior to construction. 

2.  A storm water management plan and engineer study be submitted for review by the City engineer 
prior to any construction on any lots, and that any necessary detention shall be noted on the plat 
prior to signatures and recording, or other similar documentation prepared by a licensed 
professional engineer and approved by the City Engineer is recorded with the plats. 

3.  The final plat be revised prior to city signatures and recording to show all building lines applicable to 
the R-SF zoning on each of the lots. 

4.  Sanitary sewer construction plans may be required in association with future construction 
documents or building permits, as indicated in the City Engineer comments (July 23, 2019) 

5.  The remainder of the property (outside of the 4 platted lots) shall remain subject to the R-R zoning 
district standards, and any future development on this property shall require review according to 
the rezoning and platting procedures and criteria at that time. 

 
Access 
 
Following discussion, a 
recommendations, while amending staff recommendation #1 to allow for two new access points, for a 
total of 3, off Smiley Road. This motion was not carried by a vote of 2 ayes and 2 nays. 
 

recommendations numbered 2-
1 and 2.  
 
Storm Water Detention Construction Plans 
 
Prior to consideration of the final plat by the City Council, the applicant notified City staff that a waiver 
was requested for the requirement in the City regulations to complete and submit storm water 
detention construction plans for the project. The preliminary and final plat application is now being 
brought back before the Planning Commission for consideration of this request.  
  
 
_____________________________
Chris Brewster 
Contract City Planner  



3 
 

I. SUMMARY:
 
In March, 2019 this property was subject to a proposed rezoning from R-R to R-SF.  At that time, staff 
recommended that the applicant only rezone the front portion of the property, since there was no 
intention to plat or develop the entire property.  The applicant preferred to submit a request to rezone 
the entire 19 acre parcel.  The staff report for the previous application recommended approval, subject 
to a condition that a preliminary plat and conceptual street network plan for the entire property be 
created, and that this be shown at the time of preliminary or final plat.  
condition is that once the property is officially rezoned, future plats simply need to meet the City 
standards and they should then be approved.  Many different utility, street, and lot configurations are 
possible under the R-SF zoning designation that would technically meet the subdivision regulations; 
several of which would not be appropriate for this area and could negatively impact transitions, future 
planning and potential development on adjacent sites.  Therefore, it was not possible to fully 
understand the potential impacts of rezoning the remainder of the property without at least a 
conceptual street network, with block and lot layouts.  The Planning Commission recommended 
approval of the rezoning subject to the condition of a conceptual street network for the entire property 
being submitted with the preliminary plat, and the City Council approved this action on April 1, 2019. 
 
The applicant has not submitted a conceptual street network for the entire property, and there is no 
intention to develop this property at this time.  The condition for the rezoning of the rear portions of 
this lot have not been fulfilled, and the property should remain as zoned prior to the previous 
application (R-R).  Any development of the west portions of the property should be subject to the full 
rezoning procedures and considerations at that time, including the requirement for a street network 
demonstrating capacity for utility plans, block and lot layouts and other issues impacting potential 
planning and development on this and adjacent property.   
 
The current application is a preliminary and final plat for the 4 lots that were originally intended for 
development as part of previous rezoning application.  The proposed preliminary and final plat fulfills 
the conditions of rezoning for this portion of the property. 
 
II. ANALYSIS  
 
Section 3.3 provides that the Planning Commission shall review preliminary and final plats to find 
conformance with the requirements of the subdivision regulations.  Section 4.1 and 4.2 of the 
Tonganoxie Subdivision Regulations include the following subdivision design standards  the ones in 
bold are applicable to this application and with staff comments below: 
a. Acreage subdivision (potential for re-subdivision or logical arrangement 

and / or undeveloped portions.) 
b. Relation to adjoining street system. 
c. Streets in relation to railroads 
d.  Major Street classifications 
e. Minimum roadway and right-of-way width. 
f. cul-de-sac and dead end streets
g. private streets and reserve strips. 
h.  Restriction of access. 
i.  Street grades. 
j. Intersections and geometrics. 
k. Street names 
l. Drainage. 
m. Stormwater detention plans.
n. Blocks. 



4 
 

o. Lots. 
p. Building lines 
q. Underground wiring. 
 
The design standards require subdivisions  particularly those with large lots or remnant parcels to show 
the opportunity for re-subdivision and future streets.  The easement to the south boundary of this 
property would provide a potential for street access to the property to the west in the event of future 
development.  As indicated in the summary, in the event of future development of this area, this 
condition and design standard would need to be reconsidered for the remainder of the property at that 
time, subject to all of the applicable rezoning, preliminary and final plat procedures and criteria.  (4.01.a 
and b.) 
 
The rezoning in April, 2019 was conditioned on restricted access to Smiley Road, to be further identified 
and approved by the City Engineer at the time of platting.  The plat shows no access on Smiley Road for 
the southernmost lot.  This lot will likely get access from the easement and existing driveway.  However, 
the other 3 lots do not show specific access or access restrictions.  Per the previous rezoning conditions 
and the City Engineer comments on this application, (July 23, 2019), only two access points shall be 
allowed on Smiley Road.  Therefore, the plat will need to be amended to show specific access points 
and/or include a note showing that access is restricted to two points, which must receive City Engineer 
approval (4.01.h) 
 
A stormwater management plan and engineering study by a professionally licensed engineer is required 
by the regulations, and as noted in the City Engineer comments (July 23, 2019).  The City may waive any 

arise from potential development of the site.  Otherwise detention deemed necessary by that plan shall 
be included on the plat prior to signatures and recording.  (4.01.l and m.; and Article 9, Section 5. 
Storwater Detention Plan) 
 
The four lots all meet the standards of the R-SF zone and they will allow for appropriate building sites 
according to the zoning district standards.  The final plat shows the front building lines, and by default 
the side building lines (which correspond to the easements).  However it does not include the applicable 
rear building line which should be added prior to recording of the final plat.  The applicable building lines 
for the R-SF district are: 30-feet front setback; 10 feet side setback; 30-feet rear setback.  (4.01.o. and p.; 
4.02.c;  and 5-014 of the zoning ordinance) 
 
 
III. EFFECT OF DECISION 
The Planning Commission approves preliminary plats, recommends final plats to the Governing Body for 
acceptance of any dedicated easements.  Due to the routine nature of this particular application, the 
preliminary and final plat are submitted concurrently, as permitted in the subdivision regulations.  Based 
on the record and other findings, the Planning Commission may: 

1. Approve / recommend approval,  
2. Approve / recommend approval with conditions 
3. Deny / recommend denial of the plat. 

 
Subsequent to any approval of a preliminary and final plat, the applicant may record the plat with the 
county, and any development will require construction drawings and permits, reviewed by staff subject 
to all applicable city codes. 
 
 
 



5 
 

IV. RECOMMENDATION.
Staff recommends approval preliminary plat, subject to the following conditions.  If the Planning 
Commission elects to recommend approval of the final plat, a storwater management plan / engineer 
study will need to be approved by the City Engineer and approval of the final plat should be limited to 
these same conditions. 
1. The final plat be revised prior to city signatures and recording to show restricted access on all 

lots  limited to two access points on Smiley Road, and that all access points be approved by the 
City Engineer prior to construction. 

2. A storwater management plan and engineer study be submitted for review by the City engineer 
prior to any construction on any lots, and that any necessary detention shall be noted on the 
plat prior to signatures and recording, or other similar documentation prepared by a licensed 
professional engineer and approved by the City Engineer is recorded with the plats. 

3. The final plat be revised prior to city signatures and recording to show all building lines 
applicable to the R-SF zoning on each of the lots. 

4. Sanitary sewer construction plans may be required in association with future construction 
documents or building permits, as indicated in the City Engineer comments (July 23, 2019) 

5. The remainder of the property (outside of the 4 platted lots) shall remain subject to the R-R 
zoning district standards, and any future development on this property shall require review 
according to the rezoning and platting procedures and criteria at that time. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________
Chris Brewster 
Contract City Planner 
 
 



6 
 

 
 

Current City Zoning (property in red box now zoned RR) 
 

 
Vicinity 

 
 
 



7 
 

 
Property 

 

 
 
 

Future Land Use (Tonganoxie Comprehensive Plan 2006) 
 
















	ADP47BF.tmp
	Call to Order


